SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SEP 1 0 2012

NEIGHBORS FOR SMART RAIL, a non-profit California corporation, Petitioner and Appellant Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

v.

EXPOSITION METRO LINE CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY, EXPOSITION METRO LINE CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY BOARD,

Respondents,

LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY; LOS ANGELES COUNTY
METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY BOARD,
Real Parties-in-Interest and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT CASE NO. B232655

ON APPEAL FROM THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. BS125233, THE HONORABLE THOMAS I. MCKNEW, JR., PRESIDING

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Under the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA"), Pub. Resources Code, §§ 21000 et seq., is a public agency required to evaluate a project's potential traffic and other impacts using a baseline consisting of the existing physical conditions in the affected area during the period of environmental review, or may an agency instead elect to evaluate the impacts of a project only against projected future conditions?
- 2. Under CEQA, is a mitigation measure that merely identifies several possible remedial actions, all of which lie outside the lead agency's jurisdiction and control, adequate to support a finding that a significant impact of a project will be mitigated or avoided, where there is no assurance that any of the actions will be incorporated into the project or otherwise actually implemented?

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a challenge to the legal adequacy of the environmental impact report ("EIR") for the controversial light rail transit line along the Exposition Corridor from Culver City to Santa Monica ("Project"). The Project is expected to commence operations in 2015, at which point over 280 trains per day will travel primarily through residential neighborhoods on the Project's 6.6 miles of dual light rail track. The trains will cross several major north/south streets at grade level (every 2 ½ minutes during peak periods), thereby impeding the flow of automobile traffic on some of Los Angeles' most congested thoroughfares. As approved by Respondent Exposition Metro Line Construction Authority Board ("Expo Board"), the Project will result in long-term, adverse consequences for hundreds of thousands of Southern California residents, including increased traffic congestion and pedestrian safety hazards at

surface rail crossings, severe parking shortages near transit stations, and increased vibration and noise within residential neighborhoods.

As required by CEQA, Respondent Exposition Metro Line Construction Authority ("Expo Authority") prepared the EIR for the Project, which was subsequently certified by the Expo Board. However, the EIR utilizes an improper environmental baseline to evaluate the Project's impacts on traffic and air quality, and purports to mitigate parking impacts with unenforceable and legally inadequate mitigation measures.

In order to determine whether a potential environmental impact of a project is significant, a lead agency must measure that impact against the existing environmental conditions in the absence of the project, which is commonly referred to as the "baseline" for environmental analysis. The use of a proper baseline is critically important because an environmental impact may not appear to be significant when measured against one baseline, but may actually be significant when measured against another. See *Communities for a Better Environment v. South Coast Air Quality Management Dist.* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 310, 322 ("CBE") (use of an improper baseline results in "illusory' comparisons that 'can only mislead the public as to the reality of the impacts and subvert full consideration of the actual environmental impacts" of the project).

CEQA requires that lead agencies evaluate a project's potential impacts using an environmental baseline consisting of the existing physical conditions "on the ground" in the area affected by project. In contravention of this statutory mandate, Expo Authority "elected" to evaluate some of the Project's potential impacts using *only* projected future conditions as the environmental baseline. Specifically, the EIR measures and analyzes the Project's potential impacts on traffic and air quality against a long-range forecast of future conditions in the year 2030 (two decades after the Expo Board approved the Project and 15 years after the expected commencement

226965v3 - 2 -

of Project operations), but fails to also evaluate these potential impacts against the existing physical conditions during the period of environmental review. As a result, the EIR fails to adequately inform agency decisionmakers and the public regarding the nature and extent of the Project's adverse impacts on traffic and air quality during its first 15 years of operation.

The EIR also fails to adequately mitigate the Project's impacts. It is an established principle of California law that public agencies have a duty to mitigate, to the extent feasible, the potential impacts of those projects they propose to approve or carry out, in order to ensure the avoidance of environmental harm. However, a mitigation measure that merely identifies several possible remedial actions, all of which lie outside the agency's jurisdiction and control, with no assurance that any of the actions will be incorporated into the project or otherwise actually implemented, is legally inadequate and does not support a finding that a project's significant impacts will be mitigated or avoided.

Here, the EIR acknowledges that without mitigation, the Project will have a significant adverse parking impact on the neighborhoods surrounding transit stations. Expo Authority nevertheless relies upon an unenforceable mitigation measure that consists solely of remedial actions that are beyond its legal authority to implement. Specifically, mitigation measure MM TR-4 requires Respondent and Real Party in Interest Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority ("Metro") to merely "work with" the local jurisdictions and affected communities "to assess the need for and specific elements of a permit parking program for the impacted neighborhoods," and identifies several other "mitigation options" for those locations where spillover parking impacts cannot be addressed through a permit parking program, including "time-restricted, metered, or shared parking arrangements."

226965v3 - 3 -

Despite the inherent unenforceability and uncertainty as to whether any of the remedial actions identified in this amorphous mitigation measure will ever be implemented, and although the implementation of these actions is squarely outside the jurisdiction and control of Expo Authority and Metro, the EIR nevertheless concludes that MM TR-4 would reduce the Project's spillover parking impacts to a less than significant level. However, under well-established legal principles, MM TR-4 constitutes improper deferral of mitigation and does not support the EIR's conclusion as a matter of law.

Petitioner Neighbors For Smart Rail ("NFSR") is a non-profit corporation founded by a coalition of homeowners' associations, community groups and residents who support the development of intelligent transportation solutions for Los Angeles that are safe, well-planned, and environmentally beneficial. NFSR is not categorically opposed to the Project, but instead seeks to ensure that all decisions concerning the Project are based on a legally adequate environmental study, which properly evaluates, discloses and mitigates the Project's environmental impacts. NFSR brought this action on behalf of itself and the public to compel the Expo Board to set aside its decisions concerning the Project and to prepare and circulate a complete and adequate EIR before taking any further action on the Project.

The trial court denied NFSR's petition for writ of mandate, and the Second District Court of Appeal ("Court of Appeal") affirmed. The Court of Appeal held, among other things, that a public agency's use of projected future conditions as the sole baseline for evaluating a project's environmental impacts is proper, so long as the agency's predictions regarding such future conditions are supported by substantial evidence. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with the Sixth District's decision in *Sunnyvale West Neighborhood Ass'n v. City of*

226965v3 - 4 -

Sunnyvale (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 1351 and with the Fifth District's decision in Madera Oversight Coalition, Inc. v. County of Madera (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 48, each of which expressly held that an EIR must include an evaluation of a project's potential effects on the environment using a baseline consisting of the existing conditions during the period of environmental review (i.e., from the time environmental analysis is commenced through the date of project approval). Furthermore, in a stark departure from established law, the Court of Appeal ruled that MM TR-4 was legally adequate and was sufficient to support the EIR's conclusion that the Project's impact on parking would be reduced to a level of insignificance, despite the fact that the EIR provides no reasonable assurance that any of the identified mitigation "options" would ever be implemented.

Respectfully, the Court of Appeal's decision was incorrect on both counts. For the reasons discussed below, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision and remand with instructions to issue the writ of mandate sought by NFSR.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Project, which is officially known as the Exposition Corridor Transit Project Phase 2 ("Expo Phase 2"), is proposed to operate within the Exposition Transit Corridor, which generally follows the Exposition right-of-way ("ROW") from downtown Los Angeles to Santa Monica. (6 AR¹ 00155; 8 AR 00214-215.) Expo Phase 2 would traverse approximately seven miles of the Westside of Los Angeles from the terminus of the

226965v3 - 5 -

¹ "AR" means the certified portion of the Record of Proceedings in this matter, which was lodged in electronic form. The numbers preceding "AR" refer to the tab number of the document as shown on the AR index. The numbers following "AR" are the page number(s) from the AR as indicated at the bottom center of each page.

existing Expo rail line at the Venice/Robertson Station in Culver City to downtown Santa Monica. (*Ibid.*)

On February 12, 2007, Expo Authority issued a Notice of Preparation ("NOP") announcing its intent to prepare the EIR for the Project. (6 AR 00156; 196 AR 20839-44.) During the ensuing public "scoping" period, Expo Authority received over 1,800 comments from public agencies, individuals, homeowners' associations, and businesses regarding the proper scope of the EIR. (6 AR 00156; 222-223 AR 21259-23626.) Many of these public comments expressed strong concern regarding the impacts of the Project's at-grade rail crossings of major north-south streets, including Overland Avenue, which represents the primary access point for entering and exiting Interstate 10 in West Los Angeles. (See, *e.g.*, 222 AR 22161-67, 21273, 21298-99, 23192-93, 22986-95, 23150, 23407-25.)

On January 28, 2009, Expo Authority released a draft EIR for the Project, which described and evaluated six project alternatives, including four light rail alternatives with slightly different alignments, each beginning in Culver City and ending in downtown Santa Monica. (520 AR 33405-6.) The Project, which was identified in the EIR as Light Rail Transit ("LRT") Alternative 2, included four consecutive at-grade (*i.e.*, surface) crossings of major north/south thoroughfares, from and including Overland Avenue, Westwood Boulevard, Military Avenue, and Sepulveda Boulevard. Light rail trains would pass through the at-grade crossings of these major north/south streets 280 times per day (one train every 2 ½ minutes during peak periods), thereby severely impeding the flow of automobile traffic on already congested streets. (3 AR 00021; 11 AR 00368, 00382; 687 AR 38388.)

During the public comment period, the Expo Authority received thousands of additional comments from public agencies, individuals,

226965v3 - 6 -

homeowners' associations, and businesses regarding the potential traffic and other impacts of the Project. (3 AR 00156; 33 AR 00950-01045; 34 AR 01055-84.) Many of these comments were highly critical of the methodology used by the EIR to evaluate the Project's potential impacts. (7 AR 00171-73; 34 AR 01055; 38 AR 04638-45.) Others commented on the EIR's failure to identify adequate mitigation measures. (34 AR 01060, 01079, 01368-96; 38 AR 04087-89, 04104-05.)

Expo Authority released a final EIR for the Project on December 18, 2009, which identified the Project as the "recommended preferred alternative." (5 AR 00141 through 76 AR 12414; 7 AR 00174-75; 3 AR 00016.) As described in the final EIR, the Project included significant material changes from the description of the Project in the draft EIR, such as "redistribution" (*i.e.*, elimination) of parking from the Colorado/4th Street Station. (7 AR 00173.) The final EIR also included several new "design options," such as the "Expo/Westwood Station No Parking" option (*i.e.*, eliminating the 170 surface parking spaces proposed for reservation for transit patrons). (9 AR 00259.)

On February 4, 2010, the Expo Board certified the final EIR and approved the Project. (2 AR 00005-7.) Although the EIR described the physical conditions in the vicinity of the Project as they existed at the time of environmental review, the EIR did not use the existing conditions as the baseline for evaluating the Project's potential traffic and air quality impacts. Rather, the EIR measured the Project's traffic and air quality impacts only against a long-range forecast of future conditions in the year 2030. (9 AR 00242; 11 AR 00346-347; 13 AR 00504-510; 34 AR 01057; 72 AR 10722, 10737.) As stated by the Expo Board in its findings:

For most of the environmental topics in the FEIR and in these Findings, the Authority finds that existing environmental conditions are the appropriate baseline condition for the purpose of determining whether an impact is significant.

226965v3 - 7 -

However, the Authority ... is *electing* to utilize the *future baseline conditions* for the purposes of determining the significance of impacts to traffic and air quality.

(3 AR 00017; emphasis added.)

The Project was expected to be completed in the fall of 2015, and "opening day ridership" was estimated to be approximately 77 percent of the 2030 forecasts. (101 AR 14956; 34 AR 01063.) Moreover, regardless of opening day ridership, Metro was required to run 3-car trains with 6-minute headways upon commencement of Project operations in order to properly "interline" with trains running on Metro's existing Blue Line. (406 AR 28926.) Thus, at the time the EIR was certified, the Project was expected to be completed and fully operational by late 2015.

NFSR timely filed a petition for writ of mandate challenging the adequacy of the EIR under CEQA. (1 Joint Appendix ("JA") 0001-0021.) Judgment was entered denying the petition on March 4, 2011. (3 JA 0745-746.) NFSR subsequently appealed the judgment to the Court of Appeal. (3 JA 0806-809.) On April 17, 2012, the Court of Appeal filed its opinion affirming the trial court's decision ("Opinion" or "Op.").

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews Expo Authority's actions under the abuse of discretion standard. Pub. Resources Code, § 21168.5. "Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in a manner required by law or if the determination or decision is not supported by substantial evidence." *Ibid.* "[A] prejudicial abuse of discretion occurs if the failure to include relevant information precludes informed decisionmaking and informed public participation, thereby thwarting the statutory goals of the EIR process." *Kings County Farm Bureau v. City of Hanford* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 692, 712.

226965v3 - 8 -

Although an agency's factual determinations are subject to deferential review, questions of statutory interpretation or application of the requirements of CEQA are matters of law that are reviewed de novo. See *Vineyard Area Citizens for Responsible Growth, Inc. v. City of Rancho Cordova* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 412, 435 (Where a claim is "predominantly one of improper procedure" rather than a dispute over facts, courts review the agency's action de novo.). See also *No Oil, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (1974) 13 Cal.3d 68, 88 (an agency's "use of an erroneous legal standard constitutes a failure to proceed in the manner required by law."); *CBE*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at 319 (an agency that uses an improper baseline has not proceeded in the manner required by law and has thus abused its discretion.)

"An appellate court's review of the administrative record for legal error and substantial evidence in a CEQA case, as in other mandamus actions, is the same as the trial court's: the appellate court reviews the agency's action, not the trial court's decisions; in that sense appellate judicial review under CEQA is de novo." *Vineyard*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at 427. This Court must "therefore resolve the substantive CEQA issues ... by independently determining whether the administrative record demonstrates any legal error by the [Expo Authority] and whether it contains substantial evidence to support the [Expo Authority's] factual determinations." *Ibid*.

While the Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency, it must "scrupulously enforce all legislatively mandated CEQA requirements." *Id.* at 435. See also *Friends of Mammoth v. Bd. of Supervisors* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 247, 259 (CEQA must be interpreted "in such a manner as to afford the fullest possible protection to the environment within the reasonable scope of the statutory language.")

226965v3 - 9 -

DISCUSSION

I. PUBLIC AGENCIES ARE REQUIRED TO EVALUATE A
PROJECT'S POTENTIAL TRAFFIC AND OTHER IMPACTS
USING A BASELINE CONSISTING OF THE EXISTING
PHYSICAL CONDITIONS IN THE AFFECTED AREA
DURING THE PERIOD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

CEQA generally requires preparation and certification of an EIR on any proposed project that may have a significant effect on the environment before the project is approved. Pub. Resources Code §§ 21080, subd. (d); 21082.2, subd. (d); 21100, subd. (a); 21151. The EIR must include, among other things, a detailed statement setting forth "[a]ll significant effects on the environment of the proposed project." Pub. Resources Code §§ 21061; 21100, subd. (b).

"To decide whether a given project's environmental effects are likely to be significant, the agency must use some measure of the environment's state absent the project, a measure sometimes referred to as the 'baseline' for environmental analysis." CBE, supra, 48 Cal.4th at 315. See also Remy, Thomas, Moose and Manley, Guide to the California Environmental Quality Act (11th ed., 2006) p. 198 (although CEQA does not define the term "baseline," "as a conceptual matter, the determination of whether impacts are 'significant' requires a 'baseline' set of environmental conditions against which to compare a project's anticipated impacts."). In the absence of an accurate baseline, the goals of CEQA are thwarted and a prejudicial abuse of discretion has occurred. See Save Our Peninsula Committee v. Monterey County (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 99, 128. See also Citizens for East Shore Parks v. California State Lands Comm. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 549, 557 ("[A]n inappropriate baseline may skew the environmental analysis flowing from it, resulting in an EIR that fails to comply with CEQA.").

226965v3 - 10 -

According to the CEQA Guidelines,² "[a]n EIR must include a description of the physical environmental conditions in the vicinity of the project, *as they exist* at the time the notice of preparation is published, or, if no notice of preparation is published, at the time environmental analysis is commenced, from both a local and regional perspective." Guidelines, § 15125, subd. (a). (emphasis added.) These existing conditions "will normally constitute the baseline physical conditions by which a lead agency determines whether an impact is significant." *Ibid.* See also Guidelines, § 15126.2, subd. (a).

A. Communities for a Better Environment

In CBE, supra, 48 Cal.4th at 316, this Court held that the South Coast Air Quality Management District ("District") abused its discretion by using an improper baseline in evaluating the air quality impacts of a proposed petroleum refinery project. Specifically, this Court found that the District had erroneously compared the increased air emissions from the project to maximum capacity limits allowed under previously issued permits, rather than to existing conditions. Ibid. "By comparing the proposed project to what could happen, rather than to what was actually happening, the District set the baseline not according to 'established levels of a particular use,' but by 'merely hypothetical conditions allowable' under the permits." Id. at 322. (emphasis in original.) As aptly stated by this Court: "An approach using hypothetical allowable conditions as the baseline results in 'illusory' comparisons that 'can only mislead the public at to the reality of the impacts and subvert full consideration of the actual

226965v3 - 11 -

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