SUPREME COURT FILED

CASE NO. S202828

OCT 1 0 2012

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

NEIGHBORS FOR SMART RAIL, A Non-Profit California Corporation, Petitioner and Appellant,

VS.

EXPOSITION METRO LINE CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY; EXPOSITION METRO LINE CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY BOARD, Respondents,

LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY; LOS ANGELES COUNTY METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY BOARD,

Real Parties in Interest and Respondents.

Second District of the Court of Appeal, Division 8 (No. B232655) Certified for Partial Publication

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

(§ 21000, subd. (a); see also § 21001, subd. (d) ["Ensure that the *long term* protection of the environment . . . shall be the guiding criterion in public decisions."]; § 21001, subd. (e) ["Create and maintain conditions . . . to fulfill the social and economic requirements of present and *future* generations."], emphasis added.)

Consistent with the purposes of CEQA, the Guidelines provide that significant impacts include "reasonably foreseeable indirect" impacts and the "effects of probable future projects." (CEQA Guidelines, § 15064, subd. (d)(1), (h)(1).)

The determination of whether a project will have cumulatively significant effects necessarily involves the consideration of predicted future conditions set forth in pertinent planning documents. If CEQA limits agencies to considering environmental conditions that have "real being" during the CEQA review, it would be incongruous for the Guidelines to require consideration of projects that do not exist when analyzing cumulative impacts on the environment.

NFSR assumes that a comparison of the Project's traffic and air quality impacts with existing conditions is the only way to identify the environmental effects specific to the project alone. But the Second District has demonstrated that such a cramped reading of CEQA is not supported by the plain language or purpose of CEQA, the Guidelines, this Court's holding in *CBE*, or common sense. (Op. 17-21.) The assumption that only an existing conditions baseline can reveal project-specific impacts "is erroneous when applied to traffic and air quality impacts of a long-term infrastructure project, the very purpose of which is to improve traffic and air quality conditions over time." (*Id.* at p. 18.) Here, by comparing traffic and air quality conditions in 2030 with and

without the Project, the Authority isolated and identified the traffic and air quality impacts of the Project.

"The important point . . . is the reliability of the projections and the inevitability of the changes on which those projections are based. The objective is to provide information that is relevant and permits informed decisionmaking." (Op. 18-19.)

In a major infrastructure project such as Expo Phase 2, assessment of the significance of environmental effects based on 2009 conditions (or conditions at any point from 2007 to 2010 [i.e., the period of CEQA review]) yields no practical information, and does nothing to promote CEQA's purpose of informed decisionmaking on a project designed to serve a future population.

(*Id.* at p. 20, emphasis added.)

Finally, NFSR argues that unless CEQA is interpreted to "tether" the baseline analysis to conditions existing during CEQA review, the Authority could have arbitrarily chosen 2050 or 2070 as the projected future conditions baseline. (Op. Br. 19.) This ignores the record evidence, the reality of transportation planning, and the "tether" provided by the requirement that lead agencies rely on substantial evidence to select a baseline.

The Authority chose 2030 because when it issued the NOP in 2007, 2030 was the planning horizon for transportation projects in the adopted Regional Transportation Plan. (8 AR 00218-221; 34 AR 01055.) Under federal law, SCAG must prepare the RTP to demonstrate how the region will meet federal mandates, including air quality requirements, and must be approved by federal agencies in order for the region to continue receiving federal transportation funds. (72 AR 10715.) The Metro Travel Demand Model receives its demographic inputs from SCAG's Regional Travel Demand Model, which was the

best available demographic projection for the year 2030. (34 AR 01055.)

Thus, the Authority's selection of 2030 is supported by substantial evidence, and demonstrates how the substantial evidence requirement in CEQA and the Guidelines "tethers" a lead agency's selection of a baseline to reality.

F. The Alleged Threat of "Gamesmanship" Provides No Basis for Construing CEQA to Limit Agency Discretion to Use a Projected Future Conditions Baseline.

NFSR engages in pure speculation to assert that if lead agencies are permitted to use projected future conditions, lead agencies would hire sham "experts" to game CEQA by using "opaque mathematical models" and "myriad hypotheses" to support the lead agencies' foregone conclusions. (Op. Br., 18-19.) There is no evidence of "gamesmanship," nor is there any evidence that the Second District's holding would encourage it.

First, NFSR's assertions are unsupported by any evidence in the record. The population and employment projections used in the EIR are the official demographic projections developed by Metro and the Southern California Association of Governments in accordance with state and federal law. (8 AR 00218; 11 AR 00347, 13 AR 00500, 00504). The EIR disclosed traffic and air quality conditions in 2007, and the changes in traffic and air quality with and without the Project in 2030. (Sections III.B.-D., above.)

Second, if scientific forecasting is mere gamesmanship, disallowed by CEQA, it would be impossible for federal, state, or local transportation agencies to plan and implement effective transit, transportation, and goods movement improvements. Every major infrastructure project in the State of California is based on population and employment projections. It would be irresponsible for any agency to

not use forecasting in light of approved population projections when deciding whether to invest a billion dollars in a transportation improvement.

Indeed, traffic and air quality models are essential to determine any transit project's impacts on traffic and air quality, even where an existing conditions baseline is used in the analysis. The models have been refined over many decades of use by federal, state, and local transportation agencies. They are essential to both wise project planning and long-range regional transportation planning. Their use is well understood by transportation planners, and they provide the bedrock for informed decision making in this context.

NFSR's illusory "threat" of gamesmanship is no reason to rob agencies of the discretion they need to analyze traffic and air quality impacts.

- G. Substantial Evidence Supports the Methodology the Authority Used to Determine the Significance of Traffic and Air Quality Effects.
 - 1. NFSR Has Waived the Right to Contest the Sufficiency of the Evidence Supporting the Authority's Selection of the Baseline.

NFSR has waived any right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the Authority's discretionary election to use a 2030 baseline. As the Second District stated:

[P]etitioner does not suggest that the methodologies, forecasts, models, and other data are insufficient to support the projections the Expo Authority has used—but rather only that the Expo Authority should not be permitted to use them. NFSR has made no effort to demonstrate how the use of projected traffic and air quality conditions as a baseline to measure the impact of this project has precluded or could preclude informed decisionmaking (or,

conversely, how the use of current conditions to measure those impacts would or could contribute to informed decisionmaking).

(Op. 20.)

Nevertheless, NFSR argues that it would have been *better* if the Authority had used an existing conditions baseline, an opening-day 2015 baseline, or both. It does so under the guise of establishing that use of a future projected conditions baseline constitutes a *prejudicial* abuse of discretion. Having failed to raise the issue below, it is waived. (*People v. Peevy* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1194, 1205.)

Even if NFSR had not waived or failed to exhaust administrative remedies, these arguments are unpersuasive. At most, they only serve to illustrate that the selection of a baseline is a factual question subject to public notice and comment, the scrutiny of trustee and responsible agencies, and, if challenged in litigation, the substantial evidence standard of review.

2. The Projected Traffic and Air Quality Conditions Under the No-Build Baseline Are Supported by Substantial Evidence, and Are Neither Hypothetical Nor Assumed.

Southern Californians know all too well that traffic congestion on the west side is severe, and that traffic congestion is projected to get worse. The EIR discloses that, due to population and employment growth, traffic congestion and resulting air emissions will increase in the Project study area over the next twenty years. (8 AR 00218-234.) As demonstrated in detail in Section III.C., above, these increases are not hypothetical, "assumed," or speculative.

3. NFSR's Argument That a 2015 Baseline or Multiple Baseline Would Be "Better" Undermines Its Position and Is Unavailing.

NFSR cites a few intersections out *of the ninety* intersections analyzed in the EIR to criticize the Authority's methodology in determining traffic effects.⁷ (Op. Br. 25-27, fns. 7-8.)

Specifically, NFSR argues that with respect to Intersections 15, 26, 28, 29 and 34, the EIR "does not . . . address the question whether the Project could potentially cause the LOS at these intersections . . . to fall to an unsatisfactory LOS E or F *upon completion of the Project in* 2015 or at any other point during the first 15 years of operation." (*Id*. 26, emphasis added.)

NFSR's argument stands the substantial evidence standard on its head. The question is not whether there is substantial evidence that a different baseline may have been better,⁸ but whether substantial

⁷ On appeal below, NFSR singled out six intersections. The Authority addressed each intersection in detail in its brief below and NFSR failed to respond. (Expo Authority's Opening Brief below at pp. 25-27; Attachments 1-4, 7-8; see also Attachment 8.) For the first time in its Opening Merits Brief it adds another (Intersection No. 3 (4th Street/I-10 eastbound and Olympic Boulevard), a.m. peak hour (11 AR 337, 405). Any arguments regarding Intersection No. 3 are also waived.

NFSR insinuates that the Project will be fully operational on its anticipated opening day in 2015. (Op. Br. 8.) However, this is yet another substantial evidence argument. Even if the Project would be running near a full schedule on opening day, *ridership* is anticipated to be 77% of year 2030 forecasts. (34 AR 01063.) It was reasonable for the Authority to use the planning horizon as representative of operational conditions since people switch from cars and other motor vehicles to light rail over time. NFSR notably fails to mention that on opening day, when traffic congestion will be lower than projected for 2030, the atgrade crossings will already incorporate design changes that avoid any significant impact to LOS, including new north- and southbound through lanes, elimination of or time-restrictions on on-street parking, exclusive turn lanes, and some turning restrictions. (11 AR 00365-367.) This is further evidence that use of a 2030 baseline supports a conclusion that

evidence supports the Authority's selected baseline. (*Laurel Heights I*, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 407.)

With respect to Intersections 3, 26, 34, and 69, NFSR asserts that "the predicted 2030 'with Project' conditions will exceed the existing level of delay . . . by well over 4 seconds[,]" and concludes on that basis that "it is impossible to determine from the EIR whether the Project would add more than 4 seconds of delay to these intersections as compared to the conditions that will exist at the time the Project begins operating [in 2015]." (Op. Br. 26.) This argument suffers from all the same fatal flaws as its Level of Service argument above.

But it suffers an additional fatal flaw: Under NFSR's methodology for determining that LOS will exceed the existing delay at four intersections by "well over 4 seconds," future traffic congestion and air emissions attributable to population and employment growth that are projected to occur by all relevant planning agencies, whether or not the Project is built, would falsely be attributed to the Project. The trial court rejected this argument, stating that "[t]o analyze the project's effects on transportation assuming that the project's operation is the *only* change that will occur, is absurd." (3 JA 000718, emphasis added.)

The trial court is correct. First, the Project could not possibly be responsible for any increases in traffic that occur before the Project opens (projected to be 2015). If traffic and air emissions increase between 2007 and 2015, something other than the Project *must* be the cause of the increase. Second, the Project cannot be responsible for additional traffic that will be generated as a result of increases in population and employment. Third, as a light rail transit project, the Project will not generate additional automobile trips after the Project opens in 2015; rather, it will help *reduce* automobile trips. (72 AR 10738.)

NFSR also argues that "the EIR did not evaluate or discuss the Project's potential traffic impacts as compared to the existing conditions at any street intersections . . . [,]" and argues that the Authority cannot rebut this claim because the EIR did not disclose the anticipated changes in traffic relative to existing conditions. (Op. Br. 27.) But the EIR *did* disclose how traffic and air quality conditions are anticipated to change over time by clearly disclosing both existing and future traffic and air quality conditions. (See Sections III.B.-D. above.)

Thus, even if these arguments were properly before the Court, they fail to demonstrate that comparison of traffic and air quality conditions projected at the planning horizon of 2030 with and without the Project failed to foster public participation and informed decision making.

4. The Air Quality Analysis Is Supported By Substantial Evidence.

The EIR evaluates "the nature and magnitude of the change in the air quality environment due to implementation of the proposed project" using methods and significance thresholds consistent with those recommended by SCAQMD. (13 AR 00504; see 122 AR 15310-312, 15352-354.)

Agency use of adopted regulatory standards to define significance thresholds is a common practice that complies with CEQA. (See *Tracy First v. City of Tracy* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 912, 933-934 [upholding determination that energy impact of project that meet state energy efficiency standards complied with CEQA]; *Cadiz Land Co. v. Rail Cycle L.P.* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 74, 106 [upholding agency use of the federal air quality standards to conclude that air quality impacts on agriculture were not significant]; 1 Kostka & Zischke, Practice Under the California Environmental Quality Act (2d ed. 2011), § 13.14, pp. 621.1-627.)

NFSR argues that these thresholds were not applied to the Project in comparison to the existing conditions; therefore the EIR "fails to address potential impacts of the Project during the first 15 years of its operational life [2015-2030], and skews the analysis in a way that understates the ecological implications of the Project." (Op. Br. 28.) Again, the argument that the Authority should have studied the impacts from 2015-2030 was never raised in the administrative proceedings, and NFSR has waived any substantial evidence attack on the air quality analysis.

Even if the argument could be asserted at this point, NFSR simply assumes that the Authority's methodology used a "misleadingly elevated pollutant emissions baseline" and understates the air quality impacts of the Project. But NFSR cites *no evidence* that the projected levels of air emissions in the Project area in 2030 are misleading or skewed.

(§ 15064, subd. (f)(5) ["Argument, speculation, unsubstantiated opinion or narrative . . . shall not constitute substantial evidence"].) Finally, even if NFSR's characterization of the baseline as "skewed" were supported by substantial evidence in the record, which it is not, it would be irrelevant because the *Authority's* air quality analysis, including its selection of a 2030 baseline, *is* supported by substantial evidence, and NFSR has never argued otherwise. (See Section III.D., above.)

H. NFSR Has Failed to Demonstrate That the Authority's Traffic or Air Quality Analyses Precluded Informed Decision Making. Therefore, It Has Failed to Show Prejudice.

NFSR argues that use of a projected future conditions baseline must be a prejudicial abuse of discretion because it fails to disclose the "short-term" operational impacts of the Project from 2015 to 2030. (Op. Br. 25-26, 28-30.) This issue was not raised in the administrative proceedings, and is therefore waived. In addition, NFSR fails to carry its

burden of proof because its "evidence" consists of pure speculation and finds no support in the law.

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